

July 2016

Drug	Aflibercept (Eylea)
Indication	Treatment of Visual Impairment due to Macular Edema Secondary to Branch Retinal Vein Occlusion (BRVO)
Reimbursement request	EYLEA (aflibercept) be reimbursed for the treatment of visual impairment due to macular edema secondary to branch retinal vein occlusion (BRVO), in a manner similar to Lucentis (ranibizumab).
Dosage form(s)	40 mg/mL Solution for Intravitreal Injection available as a 2 mg single-use vial
NOC date	December 10, 2015
Manufacturer	Bayer Inc.

Disclaimer: The information in this document is intended to help Canadian health care decision-makers, health care professionals, health systems leaders, and policy-makers make well-informed decisions and thereby improve the quality of health care services. While patients and others may access this document, the document is made available for informational purposes only and no representations or warranties are made with respect to its fitness for any particular purpose. The information in this document should not be used as a substitute for professional medical advice or as a substitute for the application of clinical judgment in respect of the care of a particular patient or other professional judgment in any decision-making process. The Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health (CADTH) does not endorse any information, drugs, therapies, treatments, products, processes, or services.

While care has been taken to ensure that the information prepared by CADTH in this document is accurate, complete, and up-to-date as at the applicable date the material was first published by CADTH, CADTH does not make any guarantees to that effect. CADTH does not guarantee and is not responsible for the quality, currency, propriety, accuracy, or reasonableness of any statements, information, or conclusions contained in any third-party materials used in preparing this document. The views and opinions of third parties published in this document do not necessarily state or reflect those of CADTH.

CADTH is not responsible for any errors, omissions, injury, loss, or damage arising from or relating to the use (or misuse) of any information, statements, or conclusions contained in or implied by the contents of this document or any of the source materials.

This document may contain links to third-party websites. CADTH does not have control over the content of such sites. Use of third-party sites is governed by the third-party website owners' own terms and conditions set out for such sites. CADTH does not make any guarantee with respect to any information contained on such third-party sites and CADTH is not responsible for any injury, loss, or damage suffered as a result of using such third-party sites. CADTH has no responsibility for the collection, use, and disclosure of personal information by third-party sites.

Subject to the aforementioned limitations, the views expressed herein are those of CADTH and do not necessarily represent the views of Canada's federal, provincial, or territorial governments or any third party supplier of information.

This document is prepared and intended for use in the context of the Canadian health care system. The use of this document outside of Canada is done so at the user's own risk.

This disclaimer and any questions or matters of any nature arising from or relating to the content or use (or misuse) of this document will be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario and the laws of Canada applicable therein, and all proceedings shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of Ontario, Canada.

The copyright and other intellectual property rights in this document are owned by CADTH and its licensors. These rights are protected by the Canadian *Copyright Act* and other national and international laws and agreements. Users are permitted to make copies of this document for non-commercial purposes only, provided it is not modified when reproduced and appropriate credit is given to CADTH and its licensors.

Redactions: Confidential information in this document has been redacted at the request of the manufacturer in accordance with the CADTH Common Drug Review Confidentiality Guidelines.

About CADTH: CADTH is an independent, not-for-profit organization responsible for providing Canada's health care decision-makers with objective evidence to help make informed decisions about the optimal use of drugs, medical devices, diagnostics, and procedures in our health care system.

Funding: CADTH receives funding from Canada's federal, provincial, and territorial governments, with the exception of Quebec.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS	i
SUMMARY	1
APPENDIX 1: PRICE REDUCTION ANALYSIS	5
APPENDIX 2: REVIEWER WORKSHEETS	£
REFERENCES	11
Tables	
Table 1: Cost Comparison Table — Branch Retinal Vein Occlusion Treatments	3
Table 2: Estimated Additional Cost (Savings) per Vial for Aflibercept Versus Ranibizumab	
at Various Price Reductions	5
Table 3: Summary of Manufacturer's Submission	
Table 4: Manufacturer's Drug, Administration, and Monitoring Costs	
Table 5: Manufacturer's Administration and Monitoring Frequencies	
Table 6: Manufacturer's Clinical Trial and Reimbursement Request Analyses Results	
Table 7: The CADTH Common Drug Review's Administration and Monitoring Frequencies	
Table 8: CADTH Common Drug Review 10- and 12-Vial Equivalent Injection Analyses Results	
Table 9: CADTH Common Drug Review Bevacizumab Exploratory Analysis Results	

ABBREVIATIONS

BRVO branch retinal vein occlusion

CDEC CADTH Canadian Drug Expert Committee

CADTH Common Drug Review
CRVO central retinal vein occlusion

NMA network meta-analysisODB Ontario Drug Benefit

PRN as needed

VEGF vascular endothelial growth factor

SUMMARY

Background

Aflibercept (Eylea) is indicated for the treatment of visual impairment due to macular edema secondary to branch retinal vein occlusion (BRVO). It is administered by intravitreal injection at a dose of 2 mg and available at a cost of \$1,418 per single-use vial. The manufacturer is requesting drug reimbursement similar to that of ranibizumab for BRVO.

The CADTH Common Drug Review (CDR) has previously reviewed aflibercept for wet age-related macular degeneration, diabetic macular edema, and macular edema secondary to central retinal vein occlusion (CRVO); the CADTH Canadian Drug Expert Committee (CDEC) recommended that aflibercept be listed for all three indications on the condition that aflibercept provides cost savings for the drug plans relative to ranibizumab.²⁻⁴

Summary of the Economic Analysis Submitted by the Manufacturer

The manufacturer submitted a cost minimization analysis comparing aflibercept 2 mg to ranibizumab 0.5 mg in patients with macular edema secondary to BRVO consistent with those enrolled in the VIBRANT trial (aflibercept versus laser).^{5,6} The analysis was conducted over a two-year time horizon from the perspective of a public health care payer. Drug acquisition costs (Ontario Drug Benefit [ODB] Formulary list prices⁷), as well as injection administration and monitoring costs (Ontario Schedule of Benefits for Physician Services⁸) were considered. A 5% discount was applied after year 1. Clinical similarity for aflibercept and ranibizumab was assumed based on the results of an unpublished network meta-analysis (NMA) that included trials of aflibercept, ranibizumab, bevacizumab, dexamethasone, triamcinolone, and laser.⁹

The manufacturer submitted two main analyses considering different usage of treatments: the clinical trial analysis and the equivalent injection frequency analysis. The clinical trial analysis used the mean number of injections in year 1 from the one-year VIBRANT trial^{5,6} for aflibercept (9.0 injections), and the one-year BRAVO trial^{10,11} for ranibizumab (8.4 injections). The mean number of injections for both drugs in year 2 were obtained from the ranibizumab HORIZON extension study¹² (2.1 injections). The equivalent injection frequency analysis assumed a total of 12 injections over two years for both drugs — nine in year 1 and three in year 2 — based on the CDEC recommendation that ranibizumab be reimbursed for a maximum of 12 vials over two years for the treatment of CRVO.¹³ Both analyses assumed a total of 15 monitoring visits for aflibercept and 24 for ranibizumab. See Appendix 2 for more information on the methods used.

The manufacturer reported, based on administration frequencies from clinical trials (clinical trial analysis), that the use of aflibercept would result in a saving of \$1,243 per patient when compared with ranibizumab over two years (total cost per patient for aflibercept: \$17,457 versus ranibizumab: \$18,699). Alternatively, administration based on equivalent injection frequency yielded savings of \$2,376 per patient receiving aflibercept compared with ranibizumab over two years (aflibercept: \$18,749 versus ranibizumab: \$21,126); see Table 6.

Key Limitations

- Assumption of clinical similarity is uncertain: The manufacturer based its assumption of clinical similarity between aflibercept and ranibizumab on the results of an unpublished NMA that included all treatments used in Canada for macular edema secondary to BRVO. Whereas the NMA was relatively well conducted and found no statistically significant efficacy differences between aflibercept and ranibizumab, its main limitation was the weak connection between aflibercept and the rest of the network, leading to wide credible intervals, unrealistic results in the random-effect models, and an inability to assess consistency. Additionally, no indirect treatment comparisons were possible for safety outcomes.
- Relative frequency of use: Data from clinical trials and expert opinion suggest that aflibercept and
 ranibizumab are likely to be used at approximately the same average frequency for the treatment of
 BRVO; however, there is uncertainty in this assumption. Should the use of aflibercept lead to an
 increased injection frequency relative to ranibizumab, savings predicted due to the lower cost per
 vial of aflibercept would be reduced or eliminated.
- **Differences in monitoring protocol overestimated:** The manufacturer's assumption that aflibercept would be used on a treat-and-extend protocol (where the time between monitoring visits and injections is gradually extended after visual stability is achieved) while ranibizumab would be used on an as-needed basis (in which monitoring remains frequent but further treatment is withheld until a patient worsens after stability has been achieved) leads to the assumption of 15 monitoring visits over two years for aflibercept versus 24 for ranibizumab. This magnitude of difference is unlikely to be seen in practice, as clinicians will likely monitor all anti–vascular endothelial growth factor (anti-VEGFs) in a similar manner.

In reanalyses, CDR assumed that aflibercept and ranibizumab would be used at the same frequency, either 10 or 12 injections over two years, and that monitoring visits would be reduced to 13 for aflibercept and 14 for ranibizumab over two years (see Appendix 2).

Issues for Consideration

- Existence of off-label comparators: While bevacizumab is not indicated for the treatment of BRVO or other eye disorders in Canada, it is used in clinical practice and would be of interest to jurisdictions which reimburse it for other conditions. The NMA submitted by the manufacturer also found no statistically significant efficacy differences between bevacizumab and aflibercept or ranibizumab. Bevacizumab remains less expensive per dose than either ranibizumab or aflibercept. Of note, in requesting coverage for aflibercept in a manner similar to ranibizumab, the manufacturer surmises that patients who would receive bevacizumab instead of ranibizumab would also receive bevacizumab instead of aflibercept should aflibercept be listed (manufacturer's economic submission, page 18). An exploratory analysis was performed to assess the cost of the use of bevacizumab relative to that of aflibercept (see Appendix 2).
- List price unlikely to reflect true cost: For analysis, ODB list prices were used as a proxy to estimate public drug plans' confidential prices. However, the magnitude of savings (or additional cost) that could be achieved by using aflibercept instead of ranibizumab is dependent on the relative true prices of these drugs paid by public plans. See Appendix 1 for a price reduction analysis, in which the cost per vial for each comparator is varied from its current ODB list price.

Results and Conclusions

At the current list price of \$1,418 per dose, aflibercept is less expensive than its main indicated comparator ranibizumab (\$1,575 per dose). Assuming efficacy, safety, and injection frequency are equivalent, CDR estimated that the use of aflibercept is likely to result in savings of between \$1,600 and \$2,000 per patient over the first two years of therapy compared with ranibizumab. Treatment for BRVO is likely to continue beyond two years for most patients; however, at the current list prices, aflibercept would continue to result in savings compared with ranibizumab.

Cost Comparison Table

Clinical experts have deemed the treatments presented in Table 1 for the treatment of BRVO to be appropriate. Options may be recommended (appropriate) practice versus actual practice. Options are not restricted to drugs but may be devices or procedures. Existing Product Listing Agreements are not reflected in the table and as such may not represent the actual costs to public drug plans.

TABLE 1: COST COMPARISON TABLE — BRANCH RETINAL VEIN OCCLUSION TREATMENTS

Drug/ Comparator	Strength	Dosage Form	Unit Price (\$)	Recommended Treatment Dose	Annual Cost (\$)
Aflibercept (Eylea)	40 mg/mL (0.278 mL vial)	Intravitreal injection	1,418.00°	2 mg monthly; interval may be extended up to 3 months based on visual and anatomic outcomes	\$17,016 (12 injections) \$12,762 ^b (9 injections) \$4,254 ^b (3 injections)
Ranibizumab (Lucentis)	10 mg/mL (0.23 mL vial)	Intravitreal injection	1,575.00	0.5 mg monthly Treatment is continued until VA is achieved (stable VA for 3 consecutive months)	18,900 (12 injections) 14,175 (9 injections) ^b 4,725 (3 injections) ^b
Laser photocoagulation (one eye)	NA	Procedure	182.75 ^c	Operator-dependent	183 (per treatment per eye)
Other treatments (sed that are no	t currently indicat	ed		
Bevacizumab (Avastin)	100 mg/4 mL 400 mg/16 mL	Intravitreal injection	600.00 ^d 2,400.00 ^d	1.25 mg per dose ^d Likely to be used similarly to aflibercept and ranibizumab	7,200° (12 injections) 5,400 (9 injections) ^{b,d} 1,800 (3 injections) ^{b,d}

Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health

CDR PHARMACOECONOMIC REVIEW REPORT FOR EYLEA BRVO

Drug/ Comparator	Strength	Dosage Form	Unit Price (\$)	Recommended Treatment Dose	Annual Cost (\$)
Dexamethasone intravitreal implant (Ozurdex)	0.7 mg	Implant device	1,295.00°	0.7 mg not more than every 6 months ^f	1,295 (1 treatment) 2,590 (2 treatments)
Triamcinolone (Triesence)	40 mg/1 mL	Intravitreal injection	43.40	1 mg to 4 mg every 3 months	174

BRVO = branch retinal vein occlusion; NA = not applicable; VA = visual acuity.

Source: Ontario Drug Benefit (January 2016) unless otherwise stated. Annual cost of all comparators assumes wastage of unused portions of vials.

^a Manufacturer's submission, as well as the Ontario Drug Benefit list price.

^b Based on the CADTH Canadian Drug Expert Committee recommendation for ranibizumab of maximum 12 injections over 2 years for retinal vein occlusion, assumed to be 9 in year 1 with remainder in year 2.

^c Ontario Schedule of Benefits for Physician Services, effective December 21, 2015.

^d PPS© Buyer's Guide, July 2015.¹⁴ Annual costs assume that vials are not split between patients. Actual cost per dose is likely to range between \$15 and \$50, depending on dose preparation costs.¹⁵

^e Quebec formulary price (January 2016).

^f Monograph recommends limit of 2 doses per patient; however, clinical practice may differ.

APPENDIX 1: PRICE REDUCTION ANALYSIS

To explore the impact of variations in current or future prices for aflibercept and ranibizumab, the CADTH Common Drug Review ran a price reduction analysis varying the cost of each comparator from its current Ontario Drug Benefit list price down to a 50% reduction. Markups, dispensing fees, administration fees, and monitoring costs are not included.

TABLE 2: ESTIMATED ADDITIONAL COST (SAVINGS) PER VIAL FOR AFLIBERCEPT VERSUS RANIBIZUMAB AT VARIOUS PRICE REDUCTIONS

% R	eduction,	Ranibizumab					
Pric	e Per Vial	0%, \$1,575	10% \$1,418	20%, \$1,260	30%, \$1,103	40%, \$945	50%, \$788
	0%, \$1,418	(\$157)	\$1	\$158	\$316	\$473	\$631
pt	10%, \$1,279	(\$299)	(\$141)	\$16	\$174	\$331	\$489
rce	20%, \$1,134	(\$441)	(\$283)	(\$126)	\$32	\$189	\$347
Aflibercept	30%, \$993	(\$582)	(\$425)	(\$267)	(\$110)	\$48	\$205
Αŧ	40%, \$851	(\$724)	(\$567)	(\$409)	(\$252)	(\$94)	\$63
	50%, \$709	(\$866)	(\$709)	(\$551)	(\$394)	(\$236)	(\$79)

APPENDIX 2: REVIEWER WORKSHEETS

TABLE 3: SUMMARY OF MANUFACTURER'S SUBMISSION

Drug Product	Aflibercept (Eylea)
Treatment	Aflibercept 2 mg intravitreal injection
Comparator(s)	Ranibizumab 0.5 mg intravitreal injection
Study Question	"What is the incremental cost (or savings), from the perspective of a provincial government payer, over a two-year time horizon, for aflibercept compared to ranibizumab for the treatment of visual impairment due to macular edema secondary to BRVO"
Type of Economic Evaluation	Cost minimization analysis
Target Population	Patients with visual impairment due to macular edema secondary to BRVO
Perspective	Public health care payers
Outcome(s) Considered	Direct costs (drug, administration, and monitoring costs)
Key Data Sources	
Cost	Ontario Drug Benefit Formulary list prices, Ontario Schedule of Benefits for Physician Services
Clinical Efficacy	Network meta-analysis comparing aflibercept and ranibizumab using data from the VIBRANT and BRAVO trials
Harms	Equivalent safety assumed based on individual trials and evidence from trials in other indications
Time Horizon	2 years, sensitivity analyses up to 4 years
Results for Base Case	Aflibercept was cost-saving when compared with ranibizumab Clinical trial analysis: \$1,243 savings with aflibercept over 2 years
	Equal injection frequency analysis: \$2,376 savings with aflibercept over 2 years

BRVO = branch retinal vein occlusion.

Manufacturer's Results

The manufacturer's analyses¹⁶ contain four main inputs: drug costs, taken from ODB Formulary list prices;⁷ frequency of injections, derived from the VIBRANT,^{5,6,17} BRAVO,^{10,11} and HORIZON¹² trials in the clinical trial analysis (described below) and assumed based on a previous CADTH Canadian Drug Expert Committee (CDEC) recommendation in the equivalent injection analysis (described below); frequency of monitoring, based on an interpretation of the respective product monographs;^{1,18} and the cost per injection and monitoring visit, taken from the Ontario Schedule of Benefits for Physician Services⁸ (see Table 4).

TABLE 4: MANUFACTURER'S DRUG, ADMINISTRATION, AND MONITORING COSTS

Item	Cost	Source
Drug acquisition costs		·
Aflibercept 2 mg	\$1,418 per vial	Bayer, ODB list price (Feb. 2016)
Ranibizumab 0.5 mg	\$1,575 per vial	ODB List Price (Feb. 2016)
Administration cost (injection fee)		
Intravitreal injection	\$90.00	ON SOB 2015: Code E149
Monitoring visit costs		
Partial ophthalmology assessment	\$28.95	ON SOB: Code A234
Optical coherence tomography	\$25.00	ON SOB: CodeG822
Tonometry	\$5.10	ON SOB: Code G435
TOTAL monitoring visit costs	\$59.05	

ODB = Ontario Drug Benefit; ON = Ontario; SOB = Schedule of Benefits for Physician Services. Source: Manufacturer's Pharmacoeconomic submission, Tables 9 and 13.16

The manufacturer presented two main analyses: the clinical trial analysis and the equivalent injection analysis. The clinical trial analysis used the mean number of injections in year 1 from the one-year VIBRANT trial^{5,6,17} for aflibercept (9.0 injections), and the one-year BRAVO trial^{10,11} for ranibizumab (8.4 injections). Both drugs were assumed to use the mean number of injections from the ranibizumab HORIZON extension study¹² in year 2 (2.1 injections). The equivalent injection frequency analysis assumed a total of 12 injections over two years for both drugs — nine in year 1 and three in year 2 (see Table 5).

The manufacturer assumed that patients receiving Eylea would be monitored at each injection visit in year 1 (nine in total) and bimonthly in year 2 (six visits), whereas ranibizumab patients would receive monthly monitoring visits (12 in each year) based on their interpretation of the Lucentis product monograph's as-needed (PRN) dosing and the *Optimal Treatment of Retinal Vein Occlusion: Canadian Expert Consensus*¹⁹ recommendation that patients receiving anti–vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) therapy PRN would be frequently monitored, ideally monthly.

TABLE 5: MANUFACTURER'S ADMINISTRATION AND MONITORING FREQUENCIES

Comparator	Year 1	Year 2	Source			
Clinical trial analysis —number of vials						
Aflibercept 2 mg	9.0	2.1	VIBRANT, ^{5,6} HORIZON ¹²			
Ranibizumab 0.5 mg	8.4	2.1	BRAVO, 10,11 HORIZON12			
Equivalent injection frequency analysis	— number of	vials				
Aflibercept 2 mg	9	3	Assumption based on CDEC CRVO			
Ranibizumab 0.5 mg	9	3	recommendation for ranibizumab ¹³			
Both analyses —number of monitoring	visits					
Aflibercept 2 mg	9	6	Product monograph, assumption			
Ranibizumab 0.5 mg	12	12	Product monograph, ¹⁸ assumption			

CDEC = Canadian Drug Expert Committee; CRVO = central retinal vein occlusion. Source: Manufacturer's Pharmacoeconomic submission, Tables 10, 11, and 12.

Over two years, in the clinical trial analysis, the manufacturer's results indicate that aflibercept (\$17,457) would save \$1,243 per patient when compared with ranibizumab (\$18,699). In the equivalent injection frequency analysis, the use of aflibercept (\$18,749) was associated with a savings of \$2,376 per patient when compared with ranibizumab (\$21,126) over two years (see Table 6).

TABLE 6: MANUFACTURER'S CLINICAL TRIAL AND REIMBURSEMENT REQUEST ANALYSES RESULTS

Comparator	Year 1 Drug Costs	Year 2 Drug Costs	Total Drug Costs	Administration and Monitoring Costs	Total Costs
Clinical trial analysis					
Aflibercept 2 mg	\$12,762	\$2,836	\$15,598	\$1,859	\$17,457
Ranibizumab 0.5 mg	\$13,230	\$3,150	\$16,380	\$2,319	\$18,699
Difference (aflibercept mini	us ranibizumab)		-\$782	-\$461	-\$1,243
Equivalent injection freque	ncy analysis				
Aflibercept 2 mg	\$12,762	\$4,051	\$16,813	\$1,936	\$18,749
Ranibizumab 0.5 mg	\$14,175	\$4,500	\$18,675	\$2,451	\$21,126
Difference (aflibercept minus ranibizumab)			-\$1,862	- \$515	-\$2,376

Note: Costs are discounted 5% in the second year.

Source: Adapted from manufacturer's Pharmacoeconomic submission, Tables 15 and 16.

The manufacturer ran several sensitivity analyses: varying the treatment time horizon from one to four years in both the clinical trial analysis and equivalent injection frequency analyses, as well as assuming that patients receiving aflibercept would also be monitored monthly. Aflibercept remained cost-saving in all scenarios due to its lower cost per vial.

CADTH Common Drug Review Results

Whereas the Optimal Treatment of Retinal Vein Occlusion: Canadian Expert Consensus¹⁹ does recommend that monitoring should initially be monthly for retinal vein occlusion patients using anti-VEGFs, it neither strongly recommends this (Level III recommendation based on expert consensus) nor differentiates between anti-VEGF drugs as implied in the manufacturer's submission. Additionally, the consensus paper states several times that central retinal vein occlusion (CRVO) patients should be monitored more frequently than branch retinal vein occlusion (BRVO) patients, suggesting that longterm monthly monitoring is not expected in the BRVO population. The clinical expert consulted by the CADTH Common Drug Review (CDR) did not believe there would be significant differences in how anti-VEGFs were monitored and administered after patients achieved stable visual acuity; physicians preferring treat-and-extend regimens (where the time between monitoring visits and injections is gradually extended after visual stability is achieved) would do so for all anti-VEGFs, as would physicians following PRN regimens (where monitoring remains frequent but further treatment is withheld until a patient worsens after stability has been achieved). The expert did consider it possible that ranibizumab patients might receive one extra monitoring session in the first year, as clinicians may be more likely to immediately extend aflibercept monitoring to two months after attaining visual stability based on experience with bimonthly dosing in other indications, while ranibizumab patients might initially receive their first scheduled monitoring visit six weeks after attaining visual stability. The expert also considered it likely that both drugs would be monitored approximately every three months in year 2 rather than bimonthly or monthly in patients who had achieved visual stability. CDR therefore assumed that patients receiving aflibercept would be monitored nine times in year 1, as assumed by the manufacturer, while patients receiving ranibizumab would be monitored 10 times, with all patients assumed to be monitored four times in year 2 (see Table 7).

Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health

Of note, whereas CDEC did recommend that usage not typically exceed 12 vials over two years for patients using ranibizumab for CRVO, the recommendation for BRVO patients was that usage not typically exceed 10 vials over two years. CDR thus conducted analyses including both 12- and 10-vial assumptions (see Table 7).

TABLE 7: THE CADTH COMMON DRUG REVIEW'S ADMINISTRATION AND MONITORING FREQUENCIES

Comparator	Year 1	Year 2	Source			
Equivalent injection frequency analysis — 12 vials over 2 years						
Aflibercept 2 mg	9 3 Assumption based on CDEC CRVO					
Ranibizumab 0.5 mg	9	3	recommendation for ranibizumab			
Equivalent injection frequency analysis	— 10 vials over	2 years				
Aflibercept 2 mg	8	2	Assumption based on CDEC BRVO			
Ranibizumab 0.5 mg	8	2	recommendation for ranibizumab			
Both analyses — number of monitoring	Both analyses — number of monitoring visits					
Aflibercept 2 mg 9 4 Assumption						
Ranibizumab 0.5 mg	10	4	Assumption			

BRVO = branch retinal vein occlusion; CDEC = Canadian Drug Expert Committee; CRVO = central retinal vein occlusion.

Over two years, assuming patients receive 12 anti-VEGF treatments, aflibercept (\$17,457) would save \$1,921 per patient when compared with ranibizumab (\$18,699). When patients are assumed to receive 10 anti-VEGF treatments over two years, the use of aflibercept (\$15,693) would save \$1,614 when compared with ranibizumab (\$17,307) per patient (see Table 8).

TABLE 8: CADTH COMMON DRUG REVIEW 10- AND 12-VIAL EQUIVALENT INJECTION ANALYSES RESULTS

Comparator	Year 1 Drug Costs	Year 2 Drug Costs	Total Drug Costs	Administration and Monitoring Costs	Total Costs
Equivalent injection freque	ncy analysis — 1	L2 vials			
Aflibercept 2 mg	\$12,762	\$4,051	\$16,813	\$1,824	\$17,457
Ranibizumab 0.5 mg	\$14,175	\$4,500	\$18,675	\$1,883	\$18,699
Difference (aflibercept mine	Difference (aflibercept minus ranibizumab)			- \$59	-\$1,921
Equivalent injection freque	ncy analysis —1	0 vials			
Aflibercept 2 mg	\$11,344	\$2,701	\$14,045	\$1,648	\$15,693
Ranibizumab 0.5 mg	\$12,600	\$3,000	\$15,600	\$1,707	\$17,307
Difference (aflibercept minus ranibizumab)			-\$1,555	- \$59	-\$1,614

Note: Costs are discounted 5% in the second year.

The main driver in these analyses — those of the manufacturer, as well as those of CDR — is the cost per dose for each comparator. Thus, the savings that could be achieved with aflibercept when compared with ranibizumab are highly dependent on the true prices paid by public plans per dose for each drug; the ODB list prices are merely a proxy for these unknown confidential prices. See Appendix 1 for a price reduction analysis, in which the cost per vial for each comparator is varied from its current ODB list price down to a 50% reduction.

As an exploratory analysis, CDR compared the cost of aflibercept therapy to that of bevacizumab, a third anti-VEGF drug. Bevacizumab is not indicated for retinal conditions in Canada or elsewhere, but is used

CDR PHARMACOECONOMIC REVIEW REPORT FOR EYLEA BRVO

in clinical practice and reimbursed by some Canadian jurisdictions. Whereas the cost per dose of bevacizumab can range from approximately \$13 to \$50, depending on the preparation costs incurred by payers for the labour and supplies needed to split 100 mg vials into individual doses of 1.25 mg in a sterile environment, CDR assumed a cost of \$40 in order to be conservative and to align with the recent economic analysis in the CADTH therapeutic review of anti-VEGF drugs for the treatment of retinal conditions.¹⁵

For the purposes of this analysis, CDR assumed that bevacizumab would be administered at the same frequency as aflibercept and ranibizumab (eight or nine times in year 1; two or three times in year 2), and monitored at the same frequency as ranibizumab was in the previous analysis (10 times in year 1, four times in year 2).

Over two years, assuming patients receive 12 anti-VEGF treatments, aflibercept (\$17,457) would cost \$16,280 more per patient than bevacizumab (\$2,357). When patients are assumed to receive 10 anti-VEGF treatments over two years, the use of aflibercept (\$15,693) would cost \$13,590 more than bevacizumab (\$2,103) per patient (see Table 9).

TABLE 9: CADTH COMMON DRUG REVIEW BEVACIZUMAB EXPLORATORY ANALYSIS RESULTS

Comparator	Year 1 Drug Costs	Year 2 Drug Costs	Total Drug Costs	Administration and Monitoring Costs	Total Costs	
Equivalent injection frequency analysis — 12 vials						
Aflibercept 2 mg	\$12,762	\$4,051	\$16,813	\$1,824	\$17,457	
Bevacizumab 1.25 mg	\$360	\$114	\$474	\$1,883	\$2,357	
Difference (aflibercept min	us bevacizumab)	\$16,339	- \$59	\$16,280	
Equivalent injection freque	ncy analysis — :	10 vials				
Aflibercept 2 mg	\$11,344	\$2,701	\$14,045	\$1,648	\$15,693	
Bevacizumab 1.25 mg	\$320	\$76	\$396	\$1,707	\$2,103	
Difference (aflibercept minus bevacizumab)			\$13,649	- \$59	\$13,590	

Note: Costs are discounted 5% in the second year.

REFERENCES

- 1. PrEYLEA® (aflibercept): single use vials for the treatment of a single eye 40 mg/mL solution for intravitreal injection [product monograph]. Mississauga (ON): Bayer Inc.; 2015 Dec 10.
- CADTH Canadian Drug Expert Committee (CDEC) final recommendation: aflibercept (Eylea Bayer Inc.). Indication: wet age-related macular degeneration [Internet]. Ottawa: CADTH; 2014 Oct 20. [cited 2016 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/cdr/complete/cdr_complete_SR0361-000 eylea october 22 2014.pdf
- CADTH Canadian Drug Expert Committee (CDEC) final recommendation: aflibercept (Eylea Bayer Inc.).
 Indication: macular edema secondary to central retinal vein occlusion [Internet]. Ottawa: CADTH; 2015
 May 7. [cited 2016 Mar 9]. Available from:
 https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/cdr/complete/cdr complete SR0401 Eylea-CRVO May-11-15.pdf
- CADTH Canadian Drug Expert Committee (CDEC) final recommendation: aflibercept (Eylea Bayer Inc.). Indication: diabetic macular edema [Internet]. Ottawa: CADTH; 2015 May 7. [cited 2016 Mar 9].
 Available from: https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/cdr/complete/cdr complete SR0396 Eylea-DME May-11-15.pdf
- 5. Campochiaro PA, Clark WL, Boyer DS, Heier JS, Brown DM, Vitti R, et al. Intravitreal aflibercept for macular edema following branch retinal vein occlusion: the 24-week results of the VIBRANT study. Ophthalmology. 2015 Mar;122(3):538-44.
- 6. Clark WL, Boyer DS, Heier JS, Brown DM, Haller JA, Vitti R, et al. Intravitreal aflibercept for macular edema following branch retinal vein occlusion: 52-week results of the VIBRANT study. Ophthalmology. 2016 Feb;123(2):330-6.
- 7. Ontario drug benefit formulary/comparative drug index. Formulary search [Internet]. Toronto: Government of Ontario, Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care; 2011 -; 2016 Feb 25 [cited 2016 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.healthinfo.moh.gov.on.ca/formulary/
- 8. Schedule of benefits for physician services under the health insurance act. Effective March 1, 2016 [Internet]. Toronto: Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care; 2015 Dec 22. [cited 2016 Mar 9]. Available from: http://www.health.gov.on.ca/english/providers/program/ohip/sob/physserv/physserv mn.html
- 9. IMS Health. Network meta-analysis supporting health technology assessment submission for aflibercept in the treatment of branch retinal vein occlusion: report. In: CDR submission: EYLEA® (aflibercept) 2 mg solution for intravitreal injection. New indication: treatment of visual impairment due to macular edema secondary to branch retinal vein occlusion (BRVO): Bayer Inc.[CONFIDENTIAL manufacturer's submission]. Mississauga (ON): Bayer Inc.; 2015.
- 10. Campochiaro PA, Heier JS, Feiner L, Gray S, Saroj N, Rundle AC, et al. Ranibizumab for macular edema following branch retinal vein occlusion: six-month primary end point results of a phase III study. Ophthalmology. 2010 Jun;117(6):1102-12.
- 11. Brown DM, Campochiaro PA, Bhisitkul RB, Ho AC, Gray S, Saroj N, et al. Sustained benefits from ranibizumab for macular edema following branch retinal vein occlusion: 12-month outcomes of a phase III study. Ophthalmology. 2011 Aug;118(8):1594-602.
- 12. Heier JS, Campochiaro PA, Yau L, Li Z, Saroj N, Rubio RG, et al. Ranibizumab for macular edema due to retinal vein occlusions: long-term follow-up in the HORIZON trial. Ophthalmology. 2012 Apr;119(4):802-9.

Common Drug Review July 2016

11

CDR PHARMACOECONOMIC REVIEW REPORT FOR EYLEA BRVO

- CADTH Canadian Drug Expert Committee (CDEC) final recommendation: ranibizumab (Lucentis Novartis Pharmaceuticals Canada Inc.). New indication: macular edema secondary to retinal vein occlusion [Internet]. Ottawa: CADTH; 2012 Oct 18. [cited 2016 Mar 9]. Available from: https://www.cadth.ca/sites/default/files/cdr/complete/cdr complete Lucentis%20RVO Oct-22-12 e.pdf
- 14. PPS© buyers guide. Ontario edition. Ottawa: Total Pricing Systems Inc.; 2015 Jul.
- 15. Anti–vascular endothelial growth factor drugs for the treatment of retinal conditions. Ottawa: CADTH; 2016 Apr. (CADTH therapeutic review; vol.3, no.2b).
- 16. Pharmacoeconomic evaluation. In: CDR submission: EYLEA® (aflibercept) 2 mg solution for intravitreal injection. New indication: treatment of visual impairment due to macular edema secondary to branch retinal vein occlusion (BRVO): Bayer Inc.[CONFIDENTIAL manufacturer's submission]. Mississauga (ON): Bayer Inc.; 2015 Dec 11.
- 17. Clinical study report: study number 15432 (VIBRANT 52 week). A double-masked, randomized, active-controlled study of the efficacy, safety, and tolerability of intravitreal administration of VEGF Trap-Eye (intravitreal aflibercept injection [IAI]) in patients with macular edema secondary to branch retinal vein occlusion [CONFIDENTIAL internal manufacturer's report]. Tarrytown (NY): Regeneron Pharmaceuticals, Inc.; 2014 Aug 8.
- 18. PrLucentis® (ranibizumab injection): single use vials, single use pre-filled syringes. 10 mg/mL solution for injection [product monograph]. Dorval (QC): Norvartis Pharmaceuticals Canada Inc.; 2015 Apr 20.
- 19. Berger AR, Cruess AF, Altomare F, Chaudhary V, Colleaux K, Greve M, et al. Optimal treatment of retinal vein occlusion: Canadian expert consensus. Ophthalmologica. 2015;234(1):6-25.